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9 FOR THE CENTRAIL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
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11
12 || UNTTED STATES OF AMERICA, } CR No. 11-134(A)-GW
. bR
13 Plaintiff, ) FIRST
)
14 v. ) SUPERSEDRDING
15 || CHARLES ACHIKE AGBU, : ) INDICIMENT
. aka “Charles A. Agbu,” - ) - ‘
16 aka “Charles Agbu,” )} [18 U.s.C. .§ 1349: Conspiracy
aka “Charles,” -} to Commit Health Care Fraud;
17 || oBTAGELI BROOKE AGEU, }) 18 U.S.C., § 1347: Health Care
. aka “Obiageli Brook Agbu,” ) Fraud; 18 U.5.C. § 2(b):
i8 aka “Obiageli B. Agbu,” ) Causing an Act to be. Done; 18
: aka “Obiagele B. Agbu,” } U.8.C. § 1957: Unlawful °
19 aka “Obiagele,” } Monetary Transactions; 18
aka “Brooke,” ) U.8.C. § 982: Criminal
20 aka “Ivon,” © ) Forfeiture] :
DR. EMMANUEL ADEBAYO AYODELE, )
21 [ DR. JUAN TOMAS VAN PUTTEN, Yoo
ALEJANDRO MACIEL, - )
22 aka “Enrique Maciel )
Gonzales,” Y
23 aka “Alex,” )
aka “Carlos,” and )
24 Y| CANDALARTA CORRAL ESTRADA, )
: aka “Candi,”. - ).
25 aka “Candy,” )
. )
26 Defendants, )
)
27
28 {| The Grand Jury charges:
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’ "

COUNT ONE
[18 U.8.C. §§ 1349, 2]

At all: times relevant to this First Superseding Indictment:

The Consgirators -
1. Defendant CHARLES ACHIKE AGBU (*C. AGBU”), also known

as (“aka”) “Cha:les‘A. Agbu, " aka'“Charles Agbu,” aka “Charles,”

owned and'operated a durable medical equipment (*"DME") ' supply

company called Bonfee Inc., which did business as Bonfee Medical

Supplies (“Bonfee”). Defendant C. AGBU submitted applications to

Medicare to obtain and maintain a Medicare Program (“Medicare”}

prov1der number for Bonfee.

2. Bonfee’s offices were located at 550 East Carson Plaza

.Driﬁe, Suite 113, Carson, Cal;forn1a,\w1;hln the Central District

.of California.

3. Defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGBU (“0O. AGBU”),. aka
“Obiageli Brook Agbu,” aka “Obiageli B. Agbu,” aka “Obiagele B.
Agbu,”'aka vobiagele,” aka “Brooke,” aka “Ivor,” who is C. AGBU’ s
daughter, owned-andloperated a DME supply compaﬁy called Ibon,

Tne. (“Ibon”). Defendant O. AGBU submitted applications to

Medicare to obtain and maintain a Medicare provider number for

Tbhon.

'4. Ibon’s OfflCeS were located.at 550 East Carson Plaza
Driﬁe, Sulte 107, Carson, California, within the Central Dlstrlct
of California. |

5. Defernidant DR. EMMANUEL AbEBAYO AYODELE (“AYODELE")
operated Beth Medical Clinic (“Beth Medlcal”) a fraudulent

medical c¢linic located at 11126 SoutH Main Street, Los Angeles,

2
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California, within the Central District of California. Like

defendant DR..JUAN TOMAS VAN PUTfEN (“WAN PUTTEN"), .defendant

,AXQDELEﬂwereMfrauduiEntmpréscriptionswioerMEhaﬁdw@thermitemswmwd~
: 5 .

and services which he, defendant C. AGBU, defendant O. AGBU, and

'other.DME'supply companies uged ag a basig to bill Medicare.

6. pefendant VAN PUTTEN operated Greater' South Bay Medieal |

Group (“Greater South Bay”), a medical clinic located at 930 East
Dominguez gtreet, Suite €, Caréon, California, within the Central
District of Califérnia.':Defendént'VAN PUTTEN wrote fraudulent 
prescriptions fof bME‘andldther‘iteﬁS'and services'which he,
defendant C. AGBU, defendant O. AGBU, and other DME sﬁppiy
coﬁpénies.used as a baéis;to bill.Medicare, _

| 7. befendant ALEJANDRO MACIEL (M™MACIEL”), aka “Alex,” aka
“Carlos,” aka'“Enrique Méciei Gonzales;" worked for Bonfee and
Ibon as; among other things, a “marketer” or “capper,” ille§a11§
goliciting Medicare'béneficiaries for DME and other items and
serﬁices“which‘thg beneficlarieg did notrwént or need. Défendant

MACIEL‘also worked for Bonfee and Ibon'as a delivery driver, and

he delivered power wheelchairs and other DME to beneficiaries who |-

were ambulatory and had no legitimate‘need for the power
wheelchairs and bME. | _

'_ 8. Defendant CANDALARIA CORRAL ESTRADA (“ESTRADA”), aka
“Candy,” aka “Candi,” was married to defendant MACIEL. Defendant
ESTRADA algo worked for Eonfée and Ibon as, among other things; a
marketer, illegally soliciting Medicare beneficiariés for DME and
‘other items and sexrvices which the‘beneficiaries.did not want or‘
need. ' Like defeﬁdanﬁ MACIEL, defendant ESTRADA also worked for

Bonfee and Tbon ag a delivery driver, and she delivered power

3
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wheelchairs and other DME to beneficiaries who were ambulatory

‘and had no legitimate need for the power wheelchairs and DME.

medical c¢linics that generated false and fraudulent prescriptions
and other documents for power wheelchairs and ther DME. CCL and

others providéd and sold the false and fraudulent prescriptions

:and'documents to the ownersg and oberators of DME supply-'

companiesp‘including'Bonfee.
- 10, Between in or about July 2005 and in or about February

2011, Bonfee' and Ibon collectively submitted to Medicare claims

”tbtaling approximately $11,094,918.59, and received approximately

$5,788,725.40 in reimbursement paymeénts from. Medicare to which
they were not entitled. )

The Medilcare Program

11. Medicare was a federal health'care penefit pfogrém{
affecting commerce;_thaﬁ provided benefits to individuals who
we:é over the age of'65 or disabled. Medicare was administered
by the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“*CMS*), a
federal agency undef the. United StatéS'Department of Health and
Human Services (“HHS") . 7 |

12. CMS contracted with private insurance companies to (é)
certify DME prdviders-for partiéipation in the Medicare progfam‘
and monitor their compliance with Medicare standards; (b) process
and pay claims; and (c) perform program safeguard functions, such
ag identifying and reviewing suspect claims.

13. Individuals who qualified for Medicare benefits were

referred to as Medicare beneficiaries. Each Medicare beneficiary

4

e, A,_CQ,,'QOHSPiI‘QtQIanWI;t_O.l:heGmndmtlury(CCl") was |
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was given é Health Identification Card containing a unigue
identification number (“HICN"),
providers which provided medical services that were reimbursed by’
Medicare were referred to as.Medicare'“providers.” |

15. To obtain payment from Medicare, a DME company first
had to apply for and obtain a provider number. 'By signing the
provider application, the DME companyiagreed'to ablde by‘Medicare
rules and'regulations; iﬁcluding the Anti~Kickbé§k'Statute‘(42
U.s.cC. §.1320a-7b(b)), which, among other things, prohibits the
payment of kickbacks or bribes fér the referral of Medicare
beneficiaries for any itemror gervice for which paymeﬁt may be
'made by thg Medicare Program. _ |

' 16. If Medicare approved a provider’s application, Medicare
assigned the prdvider a Medicarerprovider number, enabling the
provider (such as a DME éompany or physician) to gubmit claims to
Medicare for ser&ices'and supplies provided to»Médicare
beneficiaries. N |

17. To obtain and maintain}their Medicare provider number
billihg privileges, DME suppliers”and physicians had tb'meet
Medicare standards for pérticipation. The Medicare contréctor
responsible for evaiuating'and cértifying DMﬁ and physician
providers; compliancé with these standardsg was Palmetto GBA
(“Palmetto”) . -

18. From in or about January 2003 through in or about
September 2006, CIGNA processed and paid-Medicare claims-in

Southern California. From in or about October 2006 onward,

"14, DME companies, physiciang, and other health care . . | .
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Noridian Administrative Services (*Noridian”) performed tﬁis

function.

submitted their claimg electronically pursuant to an agreement

with Medicare that they would submit .¢laims that were accurate,

complete, and truthful. .
20. . Medicare paid'DME~providere and physgicians only for DME

and services that were medically necesgary to the treatment of a
beneficlary’s illness or injury, were prescribed by a

‘beneficiary’s physician, and were provided in accordance with

Medicare regulatioﬁs and guideiines that governed whether a
partlcular 1tem or service would be pald by Medicare.

21. To bill Medicare for DME or a service that they
provided to a.beneficiary, a DME‘providerror phy51clan was
required to submit a claim (Fofm 1500) to Noridian or CIGNA.
Medicare reqﬁired claimsg to be truthful, complete, and not
misleading. In addition, wheﬁ a ¢laim was submitted, the DME
provider or physician was required to eertify that the DME o
services covered by the clalm were medlcally necessary

22, Medlcare requlred a c¢laim for payment to set forth

among other things, the beneficiary’s name and HICN, the type of

DME provided to the beneficiary, the date the DME was provided,

and the name and unique physician identification number (“UPIN”)

of the physieian who prescribed or ordered the DME.

23. Medicare had a co-payment requirement for DME.

Medicare reimbursed providers 80% of the allowed amount of a DME

-claim and the.beneficiary wag ordinarily obligated to pay the

remaining 20%.

-l9.. Most.- Medicare-providers,; -including Bonfee-and -Thon;— [
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know1ngly comblned conspired, and agreed to commit health care

locatiéns inlobtaining the personal and Medicare information of

defendants MACIEL and ESTRADA lied to some beneficiaries about

beneficiaries for medically-unnecessary power wheelchairs and
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B. THE OBJECT OF THE, CONSPIRACY

24. Beglnnlng in or about July 2005, and continuing through |

,anwpr;aboutmEebruary_leWzollTdinuLosmAngeleswcountyTMwithinwthe«—wrwwwmmw

Central District of California, and elegewhere, defendants C.

AGBU, O. AGBU, VAN PUTTEN, AVODELE, MACIEL, and ESTRADK, together

fraud, in violation of Title 18, Unlted States Code, Section

1347.
c. THE MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY
25, The object of the consplracy was carrled out, and to be
carriéd out, in subsgtance, ag follows:
a. Defendants MACIEL and ESTRADA obtained and

asgisted fraudulent medipal'clinics, doctor’s offices, and other

Medicare benefic1ar1es by offerlng them medlcally unnecessgary .
power wheelchalrs, hospltal hads, orthotlcs, and other DME. To

convince the beneficiaries to part with their information,

the legitimacy of obtaining power wheelchairs, DME, and other .
services through them. |

b. Defendants MACIEL and ESTRADA solicited Medicare

othér DME in person and by telephone. Two of the telephone
numbers which defendants MACIEL and ESTRADA used to-soliéit the
beneficiaries were iisted on a business card for defeéndants
MACIEL and ESTRADA that they handed to the beneficiaries. A
third telephone number that defendants MACIEL and ESTRADA used to

7
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éolicit beneficiaries was in a document maintéined on Bonfee's
‘computer‘thaﬁ gonﬁained a list of names and telephone numbers

4undézwuhakheadingmfMARKE$ERSTﬂwwithmthewnama;ﬂGandyﬂwonwthismlistw rrrrrr i
next to this third telephone  number. _ .

é. Defendants . AGBU, 0. AGRU, VAN PUTTEmtiand
AYODELE used the personal aﬁd'Medicare>inform3tion of the
vbeneficiaries solicited by defendants MACIEL.and ESTRADA, and -
other co-conspirators known and unknown to-the Grand Jury, to
defraud Medicare. _ o .

d; - In some casges, defendants MACIEL and ESTRADA, énd'
6ther co-consgpirators known and unknown- to the Grand Jury, took
or referred the béneficiarieé to frahdulent medical qlinics,
doctors’ offices, and other locations where fraudulent
preécriptions_and medical documents were generated using the
beneficlaries’ personal information and HICNs., Two of the
locations where defendants MACTFEL.and ESTRADA; and other co-
congpirators known and unknown to the Grand Jury, took or.
referred the beneficiaries were Greater Sduth'Bay, which
defendant VAN PUTTEN opérated, and Beth Medical, which defendant
AYODELE operated. ' |

e. Deﬁéndanté-MACIEL and ESTRADA, and other co-
congpirators known and unknown to the Grand Jury, took or
referred the beneficiaries to defendants VAN PUTTEN and AYODELE,
réther‘than_to the beneficiaries’ regular primary care o
physiciaﬁs,.in order- for defendants VAN PUTTEN and AYODELE to
prescribe medically-unnecessary power wheelchairs, DME, and other |

Bervices for the beneficiaries.
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£. Defendantg C. AGBU, O. AGBU, MACTEL, ESTRADA, and

other co- consplrators known and unknown to the Grand Jury

facquired.false and. fraudulent prescrlptlons and-medical - decumenteu\~m—wwf

not pnly.from,defendante VAN PUTTEN and AYODELE, but from other

_fraudulent‘medical clinicd, doctors’ offices, .and other gources

for'the.purpbée of:using the‘prescriptions and documents to

submit and cauge the submigsion of false and fraudulent clalms to

Medlcare on. behalf of Bonfee  and Ibon ;

g. Defendant C. AGBU and other co-conspirators known

and unknown to the Grand Jury also boughﬁ falge and fraudulent

prescriptions and other documents for power wheelchairs and .other

DMErfrom'CC1 and others for the purpose of using the false and -

_fraudulent documents to submit and cause the submission'of false

'and fraudulent claims to Medlcare on Eehalf of Bonfee

h. After acqulring the false and fraudulent. documents
from CCl and ether sources, defendants C. AGBU and O. AGBU

gubmitted aﬁd caused the submission of false and fraudulent

claims to Medicare for powér;wheelchairs, power wheelchair

accessories, orthotics, hogpital beds, and other DME purportedly
provided by Bonfee and Ibon to Medicare beneflclarles

i. Defendants C. AGBU and O. AGBU submitted and
caused the submisgion of claimg to Medicare for power
wheéelchairs, ofthotics, hospital beds, and other DME that uere
not provided to the beneficiaries or that the beneficdaries did
not want or medically need. - In sgome eases, defendants C. AGBU _
and. 0. AGBU claimed to Medicare that Bonfee and Tbon had provided
the beneficiaries with expensive power wheelchairs, orthotlcs, or

other DME when, in fact, as defendants C. AGBU and 0. AGBU well

9
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knew, Bonfee and Tbon had provided the beneficiaries with less

1

expengive DME,

L // '

/7

- 10
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' COUNTS TWO THROUGH TWENTY-ONE
[18 U.8.C. §§ 1347, 2(b)]

26. The Grand Jury 1ncorporatee by reference and re- alleges

'paragraphs 1 through 23 of thlS First Supersedlng Indictment as

though set forth in their entirety herein.

B. THE_SCHEME TO DEFRAUD

27. Beginniﬁg in or about July 2005, and continuing through
on. or about February 17, 2011, in Los Angeles County, within the
Centrel District of California,raqd elsewhere, defendants-c.
AGBU, O; AGBﬁ,VVﬁN PUTTEN, AYODELE, MACIEL, and ESTRAEA, togeﬁher
with CC1 and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury,

knowingly, willfully, and with intent to defraud, executed, and

_attempted to execute, a scheme and artifice: (a) to defraud a

health care benefit program, namely Medicare,; as to material
matters in connection with the delivery of and payment for health
care beneflts, 1tems,'andrserv1ces; and (b) to obtain money from
Medicare by means Qf‘material false and fraudulent pretenses and
representations and the concéalment of material facte in

connedtiOn'with'the delivery of and payment for health care

‘benefits, items, and services.

c. MEANS TO ACCOMPLIS@ THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD

28, The fraudulent scheme operated, in gubstance, as

' described in paragraph 25 of this First Superseding Indictment,

which is hereby incorporated by reference as if stated in its
entirety herein.

z

/7

11

‘.'..‘_‘ILRODU ORY, AL E AT T ON S oo e i e




139
20
21
22
‘23

ZQ'

25
26
27
28

Case 2:11-cr-00134-GW Document 93 Filed 09/25/12  Page 12 of 19 Page ID #:537

D. ‘THE EXECUTION OF THE FRAUDULENT SCHEME

" 29, ‘Oni or about the dates set forth below, within the
Central. District of California-and elsewhere, the~defendénts~M~wa
identified below, toéether with others known and unknown to the
Grand Jury, fo£ the purpose of executing and attempting to
execute the fraudulent scheme described above, knowingly andl
willfully céused to be.submitted to Medicare the.following false

and fraudulent claims for payment:

R B
Approy L ays St

12/22/08
(Bonfee)

wheelchair
and
acceggories
for Lin C.

THRERZ - ¢, AGBU 107226847325000 8/14/07 35,910 | Power

‘ ' {Bonfee) | wheelchair

* and
accegsories
for Nghia M.

FOUR - C. AGBU [ 107226847328000 | 8/14/07 | 45,910 | power

: (Bonfee) wheelchair
and
accessorises
for Sang D.

FIVE - C. AGBU | 108354831047000 | 12/19/08 | $6,500 | rower

' {Bonfee) wheelchair
' and
accesgories
for

Carmen M.

S8IX - C. AGBU 109093837855000 4/03/09 896,393 | Power
. {Bonfee) wheelchair

and
sccessories
for Pedro A.

SEVEN O. AGBU | 109254844880000 | 9/11/09 | $218 |Hospital bed
(Tkon} _ for
Francizco J.

12
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105254844882000 ; Orthotlc
- (Ibon) ‘equipment
for ‘
Francigdo J.
NINE O. AGBU 110028800852000 1/29/10 5915 Orthotic
' (Ibon) equipment
‘for _
Arnulfo H.
TEN 0. AGBU 110103805092000 | 4/13/10 | $1,214 | Orthotic
(Ibon) equipment .
. for Celia &. -
- ELEVEN C. AGBU 108051845426000 2/20/08 86,720 | Powar
. : AYCDELE. ' {Ronfee) - " ‘wheelchalr
MACIEL - and
) accessories
’ for Jesus R,
TWELVE . AGRBU 108053847872000 2/22/08 86,720 | Power
AYODELE (Bonfee) wheelchair
MACIEL and
acdcessories
. for .
Egperanza R.
THIRTREN 0. AGBU 108255819538000.1 9/11/08 | 7,304 | Power
AYODELE (Ibon) wheelchair
MACIEL and
ESTRADA Aaccesgories
for '
Bdelmira R.
FOURTEEN C. AGBU 108319845097000 | 11/14/08 | 46,180 | Power
AYODELE : {(Bonfee) wheelchalr
MACIEL and
ESTRADA acceggories
‘ for
Migual M.
FIFTEEN 0. -AGBU 109008828340000 1/08/09 87,229 | Power
' AYODELE (Thon) wheelchair
MACIEL and
ESTRADA accesgories |
for Bva D,

13
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14

STXTHEN 109051839188000 | 2/20/09 | $7,229 | Power
AYCODELE - (Fbon) wheelchalr
" MACTEL and
ESTRADA accegsories
' for
: _ | Anagtacio M.
"SEVENTREEN C. AGBU 108127800080000 5/07/09 86,393 Power
. AYODELHE (Bonfee) wheelchalr
for
Margarita Z.
EIGHTEEN ¢, AGBU 109168810424000 | 6/17/09 | 86,393 | Power
' VAN PUTTEN (Bonfee) wheelchair
MACIEL and |
ESTRADA accessories
for :
Joagquin B,
NINETEEN ¢, AGBU 1091.585805536000 7/14/09 86,393 | Power
‘ : VAN PUTTEN | ' {(Bonfee) wheelchair
MACIEL and
acceggories
for Juana M.
TWENTY C. AGBU 109217810068000 | 8/05/09 | 6,323 | Power
' VAN PUTTEN {Bonfee) wheelchair
C MACTEL and
. accesaories
. for Irene 9.
TWENTY - 0. AGBU 109254844884000 | 9/11/09 | 86,714 | Power
ONE VAN PUTTEN ' {Ibeon) wheelchailr
' ' and '
accessories
‘ ‘ for
) Francigoo J,.
/!
//
!/
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paragréphs 1 through 23 and 25 of this First Superseding

knowing that the funds involved repregented the proceeds of some
w111fully caused others to conduct and attempt to conduct the
a valce greater than $10,000, which property, in fact, was derived

health care fraud and health care fraud in violation of 18 U.8.C.

COUNTS TWENTY-TWO THROUGH TWENTY-FLVE
[18 U.8.C. §§ 1957, 2]

. ..30.  The. Grand Jury 1ncorporates by reference. and. re- alleges
Indictment as though set forth in their entirety herein.
31. On or about the dates. set fourth below, within the
Central District of California and elsewhere, defendant C. AGBU,
form of unlawful activity, conducted and attempted to conduct, and
following monetary transactions in‘crlmlnally derived property of

from specified unlawful activity, namely conspiracy to commit

58 1347 and 1349:

TWENTY TWO 7/29/09 Transfer of 317, 593 from Bonfee’
' Wells Fargo Bank Account #XXXXXX8271

f' ' . | to defendant C. AGBU's Wells Fargo.

\ Bank Account HXXXXXX1448

TWENTY -THREE | 8/5/09 Transfer of $12,000 from Bonfee's
Wells PFargo Bank Account #XXXXXXS8271
to defendant C. AGBU's Wellsg Fargo

; Bank Account #XXXXXX1448

TWENTY-FOUR | 8/7/09 Transfer of $14,000 from defendant C.

' AGRU'g Wells Fargo Bank Account
HXXXXXX1448 to Bonfee's Wells Fargo
Bank Account #XXXXXX8271

TWENTY-FIVE |8/17/09 | Transfer of $15,000 from Bonfee'g

' Wells Fargo Bank Account #XXXXXX8271
to defendant C. AGBU's Wells Fargo
Bank Account #XXXXXX1448

15
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATION ONE
[18 U.S8.C. § 982(a) (1]

reference counts one through twenty-one of this First Superseding
Indictment aslthough'fully gset forth herein, for the_purpese of
alléging forfeiture, pursuant to the provisions of Title 18,
United States Code, Section 982(a) (7 |

33. Counts one through twenty-one of thls First Superseding
Indictment ellege-acts-or activities constituting federal health
cdare fraud offendes purguant to Title 18, United Sﬁates Code,
Sections 1347 end 1349. Purguant to Title 18, United States. Code,

Section 982(a) (7), upon convictioﬁ of a federal health care fraud

toffense, defendants C. AGBU, ©. AGBU, VAN PUTTEN, AYCDELE, MACIEL,

and ESTRADA shall forfelt to the Unlted States of America:

‘a. All rlght tltle, and 1nterest in any property,
real or personal, that constituteg or is derived, directly or
indirectly, from gross proceeds traceable to the commission of
such offense; and '

b. A sum.of-mdney equal to the total amount of grogs
proceede derived from such offense.

34, Pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section

11853 {p), as 1ncorporated by Tltle 18, United States Code, Section

982(b)(1),-and Title 28, Unlted States Code, Sectlon 2461(0), a
defendant so convicted shall forfelt substltute property, up to

the value of the amount described ln_paragraph 33, . 1if, by any act

33, or any portlon thereof, cannot be located upon the exercise of

due dlllgence, has been- transferred gold to, or deposited with a

is

32, The_ Grand Jury hereby realleges.and lncorporates by - f —

or omigsgion of said defendant,_therproperty described in paragraph|
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third party; has been placed Beyond the jurisdiction of this

court; has been éubstantially diminished in value; or has been

difficulty.

17

commingled with other property that canmot be divided without .. ..
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATION TWO

" [18 U.8.C. §'982(a)(1)]

reference counts twenty-two through twenﬁy-five of this First
Superseding Indictment as though fully set forth herein, for the
purpose of .alleging forfeiture, pursuant to the provigions of
Title 18, United;Stéteé'éode,'éection éé2(a)(l). |

, 36. Counts twenty-two through twenty-five.of this First
Superseding Indictmént allege acts or aqtivities constituting
6ffenses involving-Transactional Money Laundering pursuant to
Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957(a). Pﬁrsuant to Title
is, United States Code{ Section 982(5)(1), each defendant who is
convicted of such an offense shall forfeit to the United States
anf right, title, and interest in any property, real ox personal,
involved in guch offense, or any property traceable to such
property, including, but not limited to $59,593,00.

37. Pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Seétion

853 (p), as incorporated by Title 28, United Qtatés Code, Section
2461 {c), éa&h defendant so convicted shall forféit'substitute
property;.up to the vélde of the amount‘desdribed in paragraph 36,
if, by any actvor‘émission of said defendant, the property
described in paragraph 36,'or any portion'thereof, cannot be
1écated upon the:exercise of due diligence; has been transferred,
sold to, or deposited with a third party; has been plaéed beyond
the jurisdiction of this court; has been substantially diminished
/!
//
/7

18

35. The Grand Jury hereby realleges and incorporates by  _ .
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in value} or hag been commingled with other propeity that cannot
be divided without difficulty.

A

A TRUE BILL

/5,/

Foreperson

ANDRE BIROTTE JR.
United States Attorney

L7 Duape"

ROBERT. E. DUGDALE :
Rssistant United States Attorney -
Chief, Criminal Divigion :

RICHARD ROBINSON '
Asgsistant United States Attorney
Chief, Major Frauds Section

CONSUELQ WOODHEAD
Asslgtant United States Attorney
Deputy Chief, Major Frauds Section

SAM SHELDON 3
Deputy "Chief, Fraud Section
United States Department of -Justice -

BENTON  CURTIS
Deputy Chief, Fraud Section
United States Department of Justice

JONATHAN T. BAUM

Trial Attorney, Fraud Section
United States Department of Justlce
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i | R0

T FiED
. TRIGT

L 192018

EPUTY

- CERTRAL DISTR ,{5 i

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALTIFORNIA
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, No. CR 11*134(A);GW

Plaintiff, .
VERDICT FQORM

v.
OBIAGELI BROOKE AGBU,

Defendant.

L T N )
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¥

COUNT ONE
Count One of the First Superseding Indictment charges
Defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGBU with conspiracy to commit health
care fraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section
1349. |
We, the jury in the above-captioned cause, unanimously find

the defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGBU:

X GUILTY

NOT GUILTY

of conspiracy to commit health care fraud as charged in Count One

of the First Superseding Indictment.
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L]

COUNT SEVEN
Count Seven.of the First Superseding Indictment charges
Defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGBU with health care fraud in
viclation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347. Count
Seven is baged on a claim for $218 gsubmitted to Medicare forla
hospital bed that was never delivered to Francisco Jimenez.
We, the jury in the above-captioned cause, unanimously find

the defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGBU:

X QUILTY

- NOT GUILTY

of health care fraud as charged in Count Seven of the First

Superseding Indictment.
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COUNT EIGHT

Count Eight of the PFirst Superseding Indictment charges
Defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGBU with health care fraud in
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347. Count
Eight is based on a claim for $1,264 submitted to Medicare for a
Eack bréce that was never delivered to Francisco Jimenez.

We, the jury in the above-captioned cause, unanimously find

the defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGBU:

X GUILTY

NOT GUILTY

of health care fraud as charged in Count Eight of the First

Superseding Indictment.
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COUNT NTINF
Count Nine of the First Superseding Indictment charges
Defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGBU with health care fraﬁd in 7
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347. Count
Nine is based on a claim for $915 submitted to Medicare for a
back brace that was never delivered to Arnulfo Higuera.
| We, the jury in the above-captloned caﬁse, unanimously find

the defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGBU:

X GUILTY

NOT GUILTY

of health care fraud as charged in Count Nine of the First

Superseding Indictment.
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COUNT TEN
Count Ten of the First Superseding Indictment charges
Defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGBU with health care fraud in
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347. Count
Ten is based on a claim for $1,214 submitted to Medicare for a
back brace that was never delivered to Celia Gomez.
We, the jury in the above—captioﬁed cause, unanimously find

the defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGBU:

x GUILTY

NOT GUILTY

of health care fraud as charged in Count Ten of the First

Superseding Indictment.
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r

COUNT THIRTEEN

Count Thirteen of the First Superseding Indictment charges
Defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGBU with health care fraud in
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347. Count
Thirteen is bésed on a claim for $7,304 submitted to Mgdicare for
a medically unnecessary power wheelchair and accessories for
Edelmira Ramos.

We, the jury in the above-captioned cause, unahimously find

the defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGRU:

_L GUILTY

NOT GUILTY

of health care fraud as charged in Count Thirteen of the First

Superseding Indictment.
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COUNT FIFTEEN
Count Fifteen of the First Superseding Indictment charges
Defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGBU with health care fraud in
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347. Count
Fifteen is based on a claim for §7,229 submitted to Medicare for
a medically unnecessary power wheelchair and accessories for Eva
Dominguez.
We, the jury in the above-captioned cause, unanimously find
the defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGRU:
4&_ GUILTY
_ NOT GUILTY
1] . .
of health care fraud as charged in Count Fifteen of the First
Superseding Indictment.
il
8
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¥

, COUNT SI*TEEN

Count Sixteen of the First Superseding Indictment charges
Defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGBU with health care fraud in
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347. Count
Sixteen is basé.d on a claim for $7,229 submitted to Medicare for
a medically unnecessary power wheelchair énd accessories for
Anastacio Munoz.

We, the jury in the above-captioned cause, unanimously find

the defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGRU:

__2(_ GUILTY

NOT GUILTY

of health care fraud as charged in Count Sixteen of the First

Superseding Indictment.
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1

COUNT TWENTY-ONE

Count Twenty-One of the First Superseding Indictment charges
Defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGBU with health care fraud in
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347. Count
Twenty-One is based on a claim for $6,714 submitted to Medicare‘
for a medically unnecessary power wheelchair and accessories for
Francisco Jimenez.

We, the jury in the above-captioned cause, uhanimbusly find

the defendant OBIAGELI BROOKE AGBU:

| X QUILTY

NOT GUILTY

of health care fraud as charged in Count Twenty-One of the First

Superseding Indictment.

-y -
1

FOREPERSON OF THE JURY

DATED: July !2 , 2013, at Los Angeles, California.

10
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United States District Court
Central District of California

** AMENDED**
UNITED STA'TES OF AMERICA. vs. Docket No. CR 11-134-GW MD JS-32
Defendant 2. Obiageli Brooke Agbu Social Security No, _I_ _I_ _I_ _l_
akas: ' (Last 4 digits)

JUDGMENT AND PROBATION/COMMITMENT ORDER

MONTH DAY YEAR

In the presence of the attorney for the government, the defendant appeared in person on this date. 03 31 2014
COUNSEL | |:| WITH COUNSEL Brrol H. Stambler, CJA Appointed

(MName of Counsel)

PLEA | B GUILTY, and the court being satisfied that there is a factual basis for the plea. I:l NOLO I:l NOT
: CONTENDERE GUILTY

FINDING | There being a finding/verdict of GUILTY, defendant has been convicted as charged of the offense(s) of:
Count 1: 18 U.5.C. §§ 1349, 2 Conspiracy to Commit Health Care Fraud, Causing an Act to be Done
Counts 7-10, 13, 15, 16, 21: 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347, 2(b) Health Care Fraud, Causing an Act to be Done
JUDGMENT| The Court asked whether there was any reason why judgment should not be pronounced. Because no sufficient cause to the
AND PROB/ | contrary was shown, or appeared to the Court, the Court adjudged the defendant guilty as charged and convicted and ordered that;
COMM Pursuant to the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984, it is the judgment of the Court that the defendant is hereby committed to the
ORDER custody of the Bureau of Prisons to be imprisoned for a term of: Fourteen (14) Months,

It is ordered that the defendant shall pay to the United States a special assessment of $900, which is due immediately. Any unpaid balance shall
be due during the period of imprisonment, at the rate of not less than $25 per quarter, and pursuant to the Bureau of Prisons' Inmate Financial
Responsibility Program.

Tt is ordered that the defendant shall pay restitution in the total amount of 887,604 pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3663 A to victims as sct forth in a
separate victim list prepared by the probation office which this Court adopts and which reflects the Court's determination of the amount of
restitution due to each victim. The victim list, which shall be forwarded to the fiscal section of the clerk's office, shall remain confidential to
protect the privacy interests of the victims.

Restitution shall be due during the period of imprisonment, at the rate of'not less than $25 per quartér, and pursuant to the Bureau of Prisons'
Inmate Financial Responsibility Program. If any amount of the restitution remains unpaid after release from custody, nominal monthly payments
of at least $25 shall be made during the period of supervised release. These payments shall begin 30 days after the commencement of
supervision, Nominal restitution payments are ordered as the court finds that the defendant's economic circumstances do not allow for either
immediate or future payment of the amount ordered. .

The victim's recovery is limited to the amount of the victim’s loss and the defendant’s liability for restitution ceases if and when the victim
receives full restitution. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(f)(3)(A), interest on the restitution ordered is waived because the defendant does not have
the ability to pay interest. Payments may be subject to penalties for default and delinquency pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3612(g).

The defendant shall comply with General Order No. 01-05.

All fines are waived as it is found that the defendant does not have the ability to pay a fine in addition to restitution.

The cowrt has found that the property identified in the preliminary order of forfeiture is subject to forfeiture. The preliminary order is
incorporated by reference into this judgment and is final.

CR-104 (04/10) JUDGMENT & PROBATION/COMMITMENT ORDER Page 1 of 4
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USA vs, 2. Obiageli Brooke Agbu : Docket No.: CR 11-134-GW

Pursuant to the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984, it is the judgment of the Court that the defendant, Obiageli Brooke Agbu, is hereby committed
on Counts 1, 7, 8,9, 10, 13, 15, 16, and 21 of the First Superseding Indictment to the custody of the Bureau of Prisons for a term of 14 months,
This term consists of 14 months on each of Counts [, 7, 8,9, 10, 13, 15, 16, and 21 of the First Superseding Indictment, to be served
concurrently,

Upon release from imprisonment, the defendant shall be placed on supervised release for a term of three years. This term consists of three years
on each of Counts 1, 7, 8, 9, 10, 13, 15, 16, and 21 of the First Superseding Indictment, afl such terms to run concmrently under the following
terms and conditions:

1. The defendant shall comply with the rules and regulations of the United States Probation Office, General Order 05-02, and General
Order 01-05, including the three special conditions delineated in General Order 01-05.

3. The defendant shall participate in mental health treatment, which may include evaluation and coungeling, until discharged from the

_ treatment by the treatment provider, with the approval of the Probation Officer,

4, As directed by the Probation Officer, the defendant shall pay all or part of the costs of treating the defendant's psychiatric disorder to
the aftercare contractor during the period of community supervision, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3672. The defendant shall
provide payment and proof of payment as directed by the Probation Officer.

5. During the period of community supervision, the defendant shall pay the special assessment and restitution in accordance with this
judgment's orders pertaining to such payment.

6. When not employed or excused by the Probation Officer for schooling, training, or other acceptable reasons, the defendant shall
- perform 20 hours of comumunity service per week as directed by the Probation Office.

7. The defendant shall not obtain or possess any driver's license, Social Security number, birth certificate, passport, or any other form
of identification in any name, other than the defendants true legal name; nor shall the defendant use, for any purpose ot in any
manner, any name other than her true legal name or names without the prior approval of the Probation Officer.

8. The defendant shail not engage, as whole or partial owner, employee or otherwise, in any business involving federally funded health
insurance or entitlement programs without the express written approval of the Probation Officer prior to engaging in such
employment, Further, the defendant shall provide the Probation Officer with.access to any and all business records, client
lists, and other records pertaining to the operation of any business owned, in whole or in part, by the defendant, as directed by
the Probation Officer. Employment is permitted at a medical dector’s office or hospital se long as such position does not
have divect duties with Medicare or Medical billing and the defendant contacts the Probation Office before such
employntent and receives its permission in writing.

9. The defendant shall not be employed in any position that requires licensing and/or certification by any local, state, or federal agency
without the prior written approval of the Probation Officer.

10. The defendant shall cooperate in the collection of a DNA sample from the defendant.

11. The defendant shall apply monies received from income tax refunds, lottery winnings, inheritance, judgments, and any anticipated
or unexpected financial gains to the outstanding Court-ordered financial obligation.

The Cowrt authorizes the Probation Officer to disclose the Presentence Report, and/or any previous mental health evaluations or reports, to the
treatment provider. The treaiment provider may provide information (excluding the Presentence report), to State or local social service agencies
(such as the State of California, Department of Sacial Service), for the purpose of the client's rehabilitation.

It is further ordered that the defendant surrender herself to the institution designated by the Bureau of Prisons on or before 12 noon, on July [,
2014. In the absence of such designation, the defendant shall repott on or before the same date and time to the United States Marshal located at
the Royal Federal Building, 255 East Temple Street, Los Angeles, California 90012,

Bond is exonerated upon self surrender.

The Coutt recommends that the defendant be placed in a Southern California facility.

The Court informs the defendant of her appeal righis.

In addition to the special conditions of supervision imposed above, it is hereby ordered that the Standard Conditions of Probation and
Supervised Release within this judgment be imposed. The Court may change the conditions of supervision, reduce or extend the period of
supervision, and af any time during the supervision period or within the maximum period permitted by law, may issue a warrant and revoke
supervision for a violation occurring during the supervision period.

CR-104 (04/10) JUDGMENT & PROBATION/COMMITMENT ORDER Page 2 of 4
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2. Obiageli Brooke Agbu

April 2,2014

Docket No.:

CR 11-134-GW

Date ' GEORGE I WU, U. S. District Judge

It is ordered that the Clerk deliver a copy of this Judgment and Probation/Commitment Grder to the U.S. Marshal or other qualified officer.

Clerk, U.S. District Court

April 2, 2014

By /s/ Kamilla Sali-Suleyman

Filed Date

Deputy Clerk

The defendant shall comply with the standard conditions that have been adopted by this court (set forth below).

[

STANDARD CONDITIONS OF PROBATION AND SUPERVISED RELEASE

While the defendant is on probation or supervised release pursuant to this judgment:

The defendant shall not comimit another Federal, state or local crime;
the defendant shall not leave the judicial district without the written
permission of the court or probation officer;

the defendant shall report to the probation officer as directed by the
court or probation officer and shall submit a truthful and complete
wriiten report within the first five days of each month;

the defendant shall answer truthfully all inquiries by the probation
officer and follow the instructions of the probation officer;

the defendant shall support his or her dependents and meet other
family responsibilities;

the defendant shall work regularly at a lawful occupation unless
cxcused by the probation officer for schooling, training, or other
acceptable reasons; .

the defendant shall notify the probation officer at least 10 days prior
to any change in residence or employment;

the defendant shall refrain fram cxcessive use of alcohol and shall not
purchase, possess, use, distribute, or administer any narcotic or other
controlled substance, or any paraphernalia related fo such substances,
except as prescribed by a physician,

the defendant shall not frequent places where confrolled substances
are illegally sold, used, distributed or administcred;

10.

H.

12.

13.

14.

15,

16.

the defendant shall not associate with any persons engaged in criminal
activity, and shall not associate with any person convicted of a felony
unless granted permission to do so by the probation officer;

the defendant shall permit a probation officer to visit him or her at any
time at home or elsewhere and shall permit confiscation of any
contraband observed in plain view by the probation officer;

the defendant shall notify the probation officer within 72 hours of
being atrested or questioned by a law enforcement officer;

the defendant shall not cnter into any agreement to act as an informer
or a special agent of a law enforcement agency without the permission
of the court;

as directed by the probation officer, the defendant shall notify third
parties of risks that may be occasioned by the defendant’s criminal
record or personal history or characteristics, and shall permit the
probation officer to make such notifications and to conform the
defendant’s compliance with such notification requireiment;

the defendant shall, upon relcase from any period of custody, report
to the probation officer within 72 hours;

and, for felony cases only: not possess a firearm, destructive device,
or any other dangerous weaponn.

The defendant will also comply with the following special conditions pursuant to General Order 01-05 (set forth below).

CR-104 (04/10)

JUDGMENT & PROBATION/COMMITMENT ORDER

VPage Jof4




Case 2:11-cr-00134-GW Document 540 Filed 04/02/14 Page 4 of 5 Page ID #:8255

USA vs. 2. Obiageli Brooke Agbhu DocketNo.:  CR 11-134-GW

STATUTORY PROVISIONS PERTAINING TO PAYMENT AND COLLECTION OF FINANCIAL SANCTIONS

The defendant shall pay interest on a fine or restitution of more than $2,500, unless the court waives interest or unless the fine or
restitution is paid in full before the fifteenth (15™) day after the date of the judgment pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §3612(f)(1). Payments may be subject
to penalties for default and delinquency pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §3612(g). Interest and penalties pertaining to restitution , however, are not
applicable for offenses completed prior to April 24, 1996.

Ifall or any portion of a fine or restitution ordered remains unpaid after the termination of supervision, the defendant shall pay the
balance as directed by the United States Attorney’s Office. 18 U.S.C. §3613.

The defendant shall notify the United States Attorney within thirty (30) days of any change in the defendant’s mailing address or
residence untit all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessments are paid in full. 18 U.S.C. §3612(b)(1)(F).

The defendant shail notify the Court through the Probation Office, and notify the United States Attorney of any material change in the
defendant’s economic circumstances that might affect the defendant’s ability to pay a fine or restitution, as required by 18 U.S.C. §3664(k). The
Court may also accept such notification from the government or the victim, and may, on its own motion or that of a party or the victim, adjust
the manner of payment of a fine or restitution-pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §3664(k). See also 18 U.S.C. §3572(d)(3) and for probation 18 U.S.C.
§3563(a)(7).

Payments shall be applied in the following order:

1. Special assessments pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §3013;
2. Restitution, in this sequence:
Private victims (individual and corporate),
Providers of compensation to private victims,
The United States as victim;
3. Fine; :
4, Community restitution, pursuant to 18 U.S.C, §3663(c); and
5. Other penalties and costs.

SPECIAL CONDITIONS FOR PROBATION AND SUPERVISED RELEASE

As directed by the Probation Officer, the defendant shall provide to the Probation Officer: (1) a signed release authorizing credit report
inquiries; (2) federal and state income tax refurns or a signed release authorizing their disclosure and (3) an accurate financial statement, with
supporting documentation as to all assets, income and expenses of the defendant. Tn addition, the defendant shall not apply for any loan ot open
any line of credit without prior approval of the Probation Officer.

The defendant shall maintain one personal checking account, All of defendant’s income, “monetary gains,” or other pecuniary proceeds
shall be deposited into this account, which shalt be used for payment of all personal expenses. Records of all other bank accounts, including any

business accounts, shall be disclosed to the Probation Officer upon request.

The defendant shall not transfer, sell, give away, or otherwise convey any asset with a fair market value in cxcess of $500 without
approval of the Probation Officer until all financial obligations imposcd by the Court have been satisfied in full.

These conditions are in addition to any other conditions imposed by this judgment.

Defendant delivered on o

Defendant noted on appeal on

Defendant released on

Mandate issued on

Defendant’s appeal determined on

Defendant delivered on to
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at

the institution designaied by the Bureau of Prisons, with a certified copy of the within Judgment and Commitment.

United States Marshal
By
Date ) Deputy Mavshal
CERTIFICATE

I hereby attest and céﬂify this date that the foregoing document is a full, true and correct copy of the original on file in my office, and in my
legal custody.

Clerk, U.S. District Court

By
Filed Date Deputy Clerk

FOR U.S. PROBATION OFFICE USE ONLY
Upon a finding of violation of probation or supervised release, I understand that the court may (1) revoke supervision, (2) extend the term of
supervision, and/or (3) modify the conditions of supervision,

These conditions have been read to me. I fully understand the conditions and have been provided a copy of them.

(Signed)

Defendant Date

U. 8. Probation Officer/Designated Witness Date
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